IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 🚁 1994

CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 82,526 [TFB Case No. 93-30,902(19A)]

v.

PHILLIP H. TAYLOR,

Respondent.

## COMPLAINANT'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904)561-5600
ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

### AND

JAMES W. KEETER
Assistant Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801-1085
(407) 425-5424

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Nineteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "A" voted to find probable cause on July 21, 1993. The Florida Bar filed its complaint on October 8, 1993. The referee was appointed under order of this court dated October 21, 1993.

The final hearing was held on January 20, 1994. The referee, Judge Scott M. Kenney, issued his report on February 4, 1994, in which he recommended the respondent be found not guilty of charges that he unethically provided financial assistance to a client in connection with litigation. The board of governors considered the report at its February, 1994, meeting and voted to appeal the referee's conclusions of law and recommendation of not guilty. The bar served its Petition for Review on March 1, 1994.

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The bar does not take issue with the referee's findings of fact. Unless otherwise noted, the following facts are derived from the Report of Referee.

The respondent, Phillip H. Taylor, joined the law firm of Gary, Williams, Parenti, Finney & Taylor (hereinafter referred to as the Gary firm) in November, 1991, after resigning as an associate from the law firm of Searcy, Denney, Scarola, Barnhardt & Shipley (hereinafter referred to as the Searcy firm). While employed at the Searcy firm, respondent represented one of the Searcy firm's clients, Mary Barner, and her minor son, Joseph Burkes. Ms. Barner was pursuing a medical malpractice claim on behalf of her son.

When respondent left the Searcy firm in November, 1991, Ms. Barner decided that she wanted respondent and the Gary firm to continue legal representation of her son's medical malpractice claim. The Searcy firm objected to the substituted representation of the Gary firm.

Soon after arriving at the Gary firm, respondent informed Willie Gary, senior partner of the Gary firm, that Ms. Barner and her son were indigent and had been receiving financial assistance in the form of a \$600 per month loan from the Searcy firm's medical consulting group. The loan was subject to the terms of a promissory note and security agreement, and loan repayment was to be made from the proceeds received in the underlying medical malpractice litigation. Willie Gary informed respondent that the

Gary firm did not have a financial assistance program similar to that of the Searcy firm's medical consulting group, and that the Gary firm would not continue payments to Ms. Barner and her son.

Despite Willie Gary's statement that the Gary firm would not continue providing financial assistance to Ms. Barner and her son, Willie Gary signed a firm operating account check in the amount of \$200 payable to Ms. Barner. The purpose of the check was to assist Ms. Barner with her basic living expenses. The evidence indicated that, but for respondent's request to financially assist Ms. Barner, the Gary firm's \$200 check would not have been issued.

There was no agreement, pledge or expectation of repayment out of any settlement or recovery from the underlying medical malpractice litigation. There was no evidence that the check was for the purpose of influencing Ms. Barner to continue her legal representation with respondent or the Gary firm.

Other evidence revealed that respondent also provided additional assistance to Ms. Barner and her son. On at least one occasion respondent gave Ms. Barner used clothing belonging to respondent's son. Moreover, hearsay testimony indicated that respondent gave small amounts of "pocket money" to Ms. Barner at various times.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The respondent improperly gave money and other financial assistance to his clients, Mary Barner and her minor son, while working at the Gary firm. The clear language of Rule 4-1.8(e), Rules Reg. Fla. Bar, prohibits giving financial assistance to clients in connection with litigation, except that a lawyer may advance litigation expenses which may be contingent upon the outcome of litigation. A lawyer may also simply pay such expenses for an indigent client without contingent reimbursement. The money and other financial assistance provided to the indigent Ms. Barner was not for court costs and litigation expenses, but rather, was for living expenses.

Respondent's financial assistance to Ms. Barner was "in connection with" litigation. But for his legal representation of Ms. Barner and her son, respondent would not have learned of her need for financial assistance nor would he have been in a position to remain apprised of the ongoing financial needs of her family. Although the Report of Referee states that respondent's gifts to Ms. Barner and her son were not made "in connection with" litigation because there was no condition for repayment out of suit proceeds nor was an attorney-client relationship established or maintained as a result of such gifts, the bar submits Rule 4-1.8(e) should not be construed so narrowly.

Also, although the referee did not find evidence that respondent's gifts to Ms. Barner were a condition to continued representation, it is counter-intuitive to assume that such gifts

did not somehow favorably dispose Ms. Barner to keep respondent as her attorney, especially in light of her having followed him from law firm to law firm as his employment changed. Although, arguably, respondent's gifts to Ms. Barner were mainly intended for humanitarian purposes, the consequence of Ms. Barner's loyalty to respondent can, at least in part, reasonably be inferred from the circumstance of respondent's financial assistance.

The referee misapplied Florida case law and relied heavily on case law from other jurisdictions to determine the issue of financial assistance. There are important differences between the rules involved which serve to distinguish this case law. Florida case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions support a public reprimand of respondent upon consideration of the aggravating factors and respondent's cumulative misconduct in his representation of Ms. Barner.

# **ARGUMENT**

## POINT I

IT IS IMPROPER FOR AN ATTORNEY TO PROVIDE FINANCIAL AND OTHER ASSISTANCE TO A CLIENT THROUGH "GIFTS" OF MONEY AND TANGIBLE ITEMS FOR PURPOSES OTHER THAN COURT COSTS AND EXPENSES OF LITIGATION.

The Respondent improperly gave money and other financial assistance to his clients, Mary Barner and her son, while working for the Gary firm. Rule 4-1.8(e), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, states:

- (e) Financial Assistance to Client. A lawyer shall not provide financial assistance to a client in connection with pending or contemplated litigation, except that:
- (1) a lawyer may advance court costs and expenses of litigation, the repayment of which may be contingent on the outcome of the matter; and
- (2) a lawyer representing an indigent client may pay court costs and expenses of litigation on behalf of the client. [emphasis added]

It is undisputed that respondent, through a \$200 check issued by the Gary firm, gave Ms. Barner financial assistance that was not for the purpose of paying the court costs and expenses of litigation (T 22). It is also undisputed that respondent gave Ms. Barner other small sums of money as well as tangible items of clothing while representing her and her minor son, Joseph Burkes (T 23).

This court, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Wooten</u>, 452 So.2d 547 (Fla. 1984), held that advancing funds to a client for maintenance and support of the client's family, to be repaid from the proceeds of the client's litigation, warranted a public reprimand. The ethics rule at issue in <u>Wooten</u>, supra, Disciplinary Rule 5-103(B) of the

former Code of Professional Responsibility, was substantially similar to the current Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.8(e) and stated:

While representing a client in connection with contemplated or pending litigation, a lawyer shall not advance or guarantee financial assistance to his client, except that a lawyer may advance or guarantee the expenses of litigation, including court costs, expenses of investigation, expenses of medical examination, and costs of obtaining and presenting evidence, provided the client remains ultimately liable for such expenses.

The client in <u>Wooten</u>, supra, received over \$20,000 from his attorney during a two year period, mostly for purposes of maintaining and supporting his family. <u>Id</u>. at 548. The client was required to repay this amount from the proceeds of his personal injury action, as evidenced by several promissory notes. <u>Id</u>. This court held that the lawyer violated Disciplinary Rule 5-103(B) by acquiring an interest in the client's litigation and ordered discipline consisting of a public reprimand and payment of costs. <u>Id</u>.

The ethical policy sought to be enforced by the <u>Wooten</u> decision was the prevention of a conflict of interest between the lawyer and client. If the client owes money to the lawyer and the source of repayment is from litigation proceeds, then the lawyer may be less than zealous and objective in obtaining the best possible legal result for the client. The lawyer may instead be tempted to better serve his or her own interest in repayment rather than to honor the fiduciary obligation owed to the client. However, the policy accepts this inherent conflict or tension if the

financial assistance is for the purpose of covering court costs and other expenses of litigation. Disciplinary Rule 5-103(B) did not allow financial assistance for a client's living expenses and <u>Wooten</u>, supra, makes it abundantly clear that such assistance is unethical.

The relevant ethical rules have been amended since 1984, the year of the <u>Wooten</u>, supra, decision. Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.8(e) is the applicable rule in this matter. It prohibits giving financial assistance to a client in connection with litigation, subject to two exceptions set forth in Rule 4-1.8(e)(1) and (2). These exceptions, unlike Disciplinary Rule 5-103(B), differentiate between indigent clients and other clients. The distinction is that for indigent clients, there is no obligation or even suggestion - for repayment of the financial assistance to come from litigation proceeds. However, the type of financial assistance allowed, as in Disciplinary Rule 5-103(B), remains limited to payment of court costs and expenses of litigation and does not allow financial assistance for family maintenance, the type of assistance provided by respondent to Ms. Barner and the type specifically prohibited in Wooten, supra.

Respondent's financial assistance to Ms. Barner was "in connection with" contemplated or pending litigation. But for his legal representation of Ms. Barner and her son, respondent would not have learned of her need for financial assistance nor would he have been in a position to remain apprised of her ongoing maintenance expenses. Although the Report of Referee states that

respondent's gifts to Ms. Barner and her son were not made "in connection with" litigation because there was no condition for repayment out of suit proceeds nor was an attorney-client relationship established or maintained as a result of such gifts, (ROR-A-3), Rule 4-1.8(e) should not be construed so narrowly.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Rogowski</u>, 399 So.2d 1390 (Fla. 1981), this court held that a lawyer's advances of funds were made in connection with contemplated or pending litigation even though such advances were not provided for the expenses of litigation or for any other expense authorized by the Code of Professional Responsibility. As in <u>Wooten</u>, supra, Disciplinary Rule 5-103(B) was the pertinent ethical rule. Although <u>Rogowski</u>, supra, does not specify the exact nature of the advances made "in connection with" litigation, the decision states that they were not for the types of expenses explicitly stated in the rule (e.g., court costs, expenses of investigation, etc.). Id.

Although the advances in <u>Rogowski</u>, supra, were not for expenses authorized in Disciplinary Rule 5-103(B), the court found that such advances were nevertheless made "in connection with" contemplated or pending litigation. It is overly narrow to conclude, as does the Report of Referee in this matter, that advances are made "in connection with litigation" only when there is no condition for repayment out of suit proceeds or an attorney-client relationship is established or maintained as a result of such advances (ROR-A-3). Most importantly, such a conclusion is not supported by <u>Rogowski</u>, supra. Additionally, Rule 4-1.8(e)(2)

does not in any manner require an indigent client to repay authorized financial assistance. Hence, the Report of Referee has written a requirement into Rule 4-1.8(e)(2) that was not so intended.

Rule 4-1.8(e) also does not require an attorney-client relationship to be established or maintained as a result of the financial assistance in order for the assistance to be "in connection with litigation." Admittedly, one of the aims of the "in connection with" language in Rule 4-1.8(e), as inferentially discussed in the comments to the rule, is to prevent lawyers from buying lawsuits through financial assistance to clients, but the "in connection with" requirement would seem of greater ethical significance if its scope were broader than that suggested in the Report of Referee. Rather than limiting the scope of the "in connection with" requirement to consist of only those advances that result in the establishment or maintenance of an attorney-client relationship, such requirement would seem of far greater utility and application if its scope were broadly construed to include other advances that did not necessarily result in the establishment or maintenance of an attorney-client relationship.

Assuming arguendo that the Report of Referee requirement for a causal nexus between financial assistance and maintenance of an attorney-client relationship is necessary for Rule 4-1.8(e) to apply, while the evidence did not conclusively show that respondent's gifts to Ms. Barner met this requirement (ROR-A-3), it is counter-intuitive to assume that such gifts did not somehow

favorably dispose Ms. Barner to maintain respondent as her attorney. In fact, Ms. Barner followed respondent from the Searcy firm to the Gary firm and, ultimately, to his current firm of Montgomery & Larmoyeaux (T 16-20). Although, arguably, respondent's gifts to Ms. Barner were mainly intended for humanitarian purposes, the consequence of Ms. Barner's loyalty to respondent can, at least in part, reasonably be inferred from the circumstance of respondent's financial assistance.

The Report of Referee cites State v. Dawson, 111 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1959) not being as on point, but instructive in holding that respondent should not be disciplined for providing small sums of money and other assistance to an existing indigent client such as Ms. Barner (ROR-A-4). However, a review of the facts in Dawson, supra, reveal that the lawyer was sanctioned for buying a client's business by agreeing in advance of representation to pay the client's bills. Id. at 430. Dawson, supra, did not involve providing financial assistance to existing clients, and the Dawson court specifically stated that it was not reaching the issue of whether a lawyer, once legitimately employed, was precluded from advancing sums incidental to the conduct of the client's business. Accordingly, the referee's apparent reliance upon dicta in Id. Dawson, supra, to determine respondent's quilt was misplaced.

The referee apparently also relied on Louisiana State Bar Assoc. v. Edwins, 329 So.2d 437 (La. 1976), in holding that respondent's financial assistance to Ms. Barner was not unethical (ROR-A-4). In Edwins, supra, the lawyer was disciplined for

solicitation but received no discipline for providing financial assistance to one client, Thomas, for medical and other living expenses. Id. at 446. The Edwins court stated that "the advances and guarantees here made [to Thomas] are, in our opinion, more akin to the authorized advance of 'expenses of litigation' than to the prohibited advances made with improper motive to buy representation of the client or by way of advertising to attract other clients."

Id. The ethics rule at issue in Edwins, supra, was Disciplinary Rule 5-103(B). Although the court stated that the type of advances to client Thomas were arguably prevented by the letter of Disciplinary Rule 5-103(B), the court found that, under the circumstances shown, the rule was not violated because the client was an existing client and the expenses were for necessities. Id. at 445.

However, the ethics rule implicated in Edwins, supra, Disciplinary Rule 5-103(B), was materially different from Rule of Professional conduct 4-1.8(e) and required the client to remain liable for repayment of financial advances regardless of outcome of the case. Respondent's financial assistance to Ms. Barner was not conditioned upon repayment, but was essentially a gift (ROR-A-2). The rationale of requiring repayment suggests that a client will be less susceptible to the lawyer's financial control and influence if the lawyer and client know that, ultimately, the client pays. With unconditional financial assistance provided to an indigent client beyond the type of assistance expressly stated in Rule 4-1.8(e), it is reasonable to assume that the lawyer possesses an expanded

ability to control and influence the client through the unilateral generosity of the lawyer's comparatively deep pockets.

Importantly, the lawyer in Edwins, supra, was disciplined for providing financial assistance to another client, Selzer, because such assistance was made with the intention of keeping Selzer as a client. The record in this case clearly shows that Ms. Barner was represented by respondent while he practiced at the Searcy firm; that she followed him to the Gary firm in November 1991 and provided sworn statements in support of his representation at various hearings; and that she further followed respondent to his current firm, Montgomery & Larmoyeaux (T 16-20). Although no direct evidence was presented to show that Ms. Barner maintained her relationship with respondent because of his advances to her, (ROR-A-2), it is not unreasonable to conclude that the \$200 check other financial assistance delivered to respondent exerted at least some of the unilateral control against which Rule 4-1.8(e) was designed to prevent.

Willie Gary, respondent's former employer, has received a recommendation of discipline for the very acts of financial assistance committed by respondent. In <a href="The Florida Bar v. Gary">The Florida Bar v. Gary</a>, Case No. 82,525, the referee recommended a finding of minor misconduct to be administered by the president of The Florida Bar. Mr. Gary testified in connection with that case that he had signed the \$200 check given to Ms. Barner by respondent; that he had made loans to clients in the past to help them meet living expenses during the pendency of lawsuits; and that none of the advances was

made with the intent of soliciting clients. Mr. Gary voluntarily disclosed the ethical violations and expressed remorse for his conduct. Mr. Gary has subsequently enacted policies at the his firm to prevent a reoccurrence of the violations. This case is still pending this court's final determination.

Finally, in Opinion 92-6 (March 1, 1993) of the Professional Ethics of The Florida Bar, the bar has determined that an attorney's involvement with a corporation formed for the purpose of loaning money to personal injury clients would be unethical. opinion cited Opinion 75-24 which concluded that it would be improper for an attorney to make loans to the attorney's clients for living expenses on the condition that the attorney and client The opinion further stated several sign a loan agreement. practical problems to such a loan corporation. One problem is the potential conflict of interest between the attorney, who may seek to settle the case in order to pay off the loan, and the client, who would have little incentive to settle or even cooperate in pursuing the case if the loan amount was equal to the projected recovery. Although the respondent's financial assistance to Ms. Barner was not proven to be a loan, the tension of a possible conflict of interest could likely arise under circumstances similar to the instant case when a lawyer has extended financial assistance for which he or she is indirectly seeking repayment through the contingent fee award.

## POINT II

THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE FOR PROVIDING FINANCIAL AND OTHER ASSISTANCE TO A CLIENT IS A PUBLIC REPRIMAND AND PAYMENT OF COSTS WHERE THE ASSISTANCE WAS GIVEN FOR PURPOSES OTHER THAN COURT COSTS AND EXPENSES OF LITIGATION.

In <u>Wooten</u>, supra, the court held that a public reprimand was warranted where an attorney advanced funds for the maintenance and support of the client and the client's family. The court stated that it had repeatedly held that an attorney may not advance money to a client except for the reasonable expenses of litigation. Under the facts of <u>Wooten</u>, supra, the payment of a substantial portion of \$20,000 for maintenance and support of the client was determined to be unethical and subjected the attorney to a public reprimand.

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