017

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

MAY 11 1994

5/24

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,526

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,  
Complainant,

[TFB Case No. 93-31,902 (19A)]

v.

PHILLIP H. TAYLOR, III,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_ /

---

**RESPONDENT, PHILLIP H. TAYLOR, III'S, ANSWER BRIEF**

---

By: G. Michael Keenan, Esquire  
Florida Bar No. 334839

G. MICHAEL KEENAN, P.A.  
Suite A, Second Floor  
325 Clematis Street  
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401  
(407) 835-3630 Telephone  
(407) 835-0194 Telefax

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The BAR presented no evidence that TAYLOR loaned Ms. Barner \$200.00 of Mr. Gary's firm's money without Mr. Gary's knowledge or consent. The BAR presented no evidence that TAYLOR routinely advanced Ms. Barner small sums of his own money and used clothes for her son. The BAR presented no evidence that the \$200.00 check written by Mr. Gary to Ms. Barner was given in connection with pending or contemplated litigation, that it was given as a condition of representation or continued representation, or that it was given with the expectation of repayment. The BAR presented no evidence that TAYLOR entered into a business transaction or acquired an interest adverse to Ms. Barner's or acquired a proprietary interest in Ms. Barner or her son's case.

II. In the event that the Referee's findings and recommendation of not guilty are not affirmed, the issue of discipline should be remanded to the Referee for consideration. Pursuant to the direction from the Referee, evidence of mitigation and discipline was not presented. Instead, the Referee stated that, in the event he found it necessary, he would hold a subsequent hearing to take evidence on the issues of mitigation and discipline.

## ARGUMENT

### I. TAYLOR DID NOT PROVIDE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO MARY BARNER IN CONNECTION WITH CONTEMPLATED OR PENDING LITIGATION.

This Court has consistently held that the findings of fact and recommendations of a referee must be accepted if they are supported by competent evidence. The Florida Bar v. Bajoczky, 558 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1990). Although the Court's scope of review is broader with respect to a referee's legal conclusions and punishment, they nonetheless come to the Court with a presumption of correctness unless they are clearly erroneous and not supported by the evidence. The Florida Bar v. Poplack, 559 So.2d 116, 118 (Fla. 1992); The Florida Bar v. Langston, 540 So.2d 118 (Fla. 1989). A party seeking to overturn a referee's findings and recommendations has the burden of showing that the referee's report is clearly erroneous or is lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Neu, 597 So.2d 266 (Fla. 1992); The Florida Bar v. Lipman, 497 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1986). If the findings of the referee are supported by competent, substantial evidence, the court is precluded from reweighing the evidence or substituting its judgment for that of the referee. The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 509 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1987).

The BAR'S argument before the Referee and this Court is simple - providing assistance to a client irrespective of whether it is in connection with contemplated or pending litigation is per se unethical and subject to discipline. Although simplistic, the BAR'S position is not supported by the existing professional

rules of conduct, rules of discipline or case law. As the Referee correctly concluded, absent some condition of repayment from suit proceeds or establishment/maintenance of the attorney/client relationship as a result of the assistance, the providing of minimal assistance does not render an attorney subject to discipline.

Initially, it must be noted that the Referee found that there was no evidence to establish that TAYLOR violated Rule 4-1.8(a) or Rule 4-1.8(i), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. In its brief, the BAR makes no argument to suggest that the Referee was in error with respect to his findings and recommendations as to these Rules. Consequently, the Referee's findings and recommendations should be accepted and affirmed with respect to TAYLOR'S alleged violation of these Rules.

Similarly, a review of the record, the transcript of the proceedings before the Referee, the Referee's Report and the BAR'S brief, demonstrates that the BAR failed to present any evidence (a) that TAYLOR loaned Ms. Barner \$200.00 of Mr. Gary's firm's money without his prior knowledge or consent (BAR Complaint, Paragraph 10); or (b) that TAYLOR routinely advanced Ms. Barner small sums of his own monies or used clothing for her son (BAR'S Complaint, Paragraph 11). As Mr. Gary testified, he issued a \$200.00 check to Ms. Barner which he signed on his firm's account knowing that Ms. Barner needed help because her son had to be hospitalized. Mr. Gary issued the check with full knowledge of its purpose and because he knew it was the right

thing to do. Mr. Gary testified that TAYLOR neither duped nor defrauded him into signing the check nor was it issued without his prior knowledge or consent. Mr. Gary's testimony is clear, convincing and uncontradicted on this point.

Mr. Gary also testified that TAYLOR may have told him that Taylor "gave her some of his kid's clothes to her child or some clothes of his wife's or some of his clothes or something." Mr. Gary did not testify that TAYLOR routinely gave Ms. Barner used clothing. As importantly, Mr. Gary had no knowledge that TAYLOR ever advanced any of his own monies to Ms. Barner, routinely or otherwise. Other than Mr. Gary's testimony, the BAR presented no further evidence to prove the allegations in its Complaint. As a result of the BAR'S failure to prove by clear and convincing evidence the charges made against TAYLOR, the Referee's findings of fact and recommendations must be accepted and affirmed by this Court.

Despite failing to present any evidence that TAYLOR gave Ms. Barner \$200.00 of Mr. Gary's firm's money without Mr. Gary's consent or knowledge or that TAYLOR routinely or otherwise advanced Ms. Barner sums of his own money or used clothing, the BAR, engaging in perhaps theoretical debate, argues that this Court should now eliminate the "in connection with pending or contemplated litigation" requirement of Rule 4-1.8(e), Rules of Professional Conduct, and thus, make all financial assistance to clients ethically impermissible. The BAR cites no case law or legal authority to support this proposition. None exists.

The ethical concerns surrounding the prohibition against attorneys advancing monies or providing financial assistance to clients have consistently focused upon preventing attorneys from inducing clients to retain them by promising them monies or financial assistance and preventing attorneys from acquiring an interest in their clients' causes of action. State v. Dawson, 111 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1969); Louisiana State Bar Association v. Edwins, 329 So.2d 437 (La. 1976); In Re: Ruffalo, 249 F.Supp. 432 (N.D. Ohio 1965). Neither Rule 4-1.8(e) nor any prior decision of this Court or other courts construing the ethical goal of the Rule have held that advancing sums or providing financial assistance to a client, irrespective of the amount of the advancement or the purpose, is per se an ethical violation. As this Court stated in State v. Dawson, supra, 11 So.2d at 430:

We are not here holding that, once legitimately employed, a lawyer is precluded from advancing sums incidental to the conduct of the client's business provided that promises of such advances were not conditions to obtaining employment.

Contrary to the BAR'S misstatement, this Court has addressed the exact issue currently before the Court.

Similarly, in Louisiana State Bar Association v. Edwins, supra, the Louisiana Supreme Court, in construing a disciplinary rule substantively similar to Rule 4-1.8(e), Rules of Professional Conduct, refused to discipline an attorney who advanced approximately \$2,700.00 to a client for expenses such as living expenses, car notes and medical attention. At the time of the advances, the evidence established that the clients subsisted

at poverty level. In refusing to discipline the attorney, the court held:

Nevertheless, under the circumstances here shown, we are unwilling to hold that the spirit or the intent of the disciplinary rule is violated by the advance or the guaranty by a lawyer to a client (who has already retained him) of minimal living expenses, of minor sums necessary to prevent foreclosure, or of necessary medical treatment.

...

If an impoverished person is unable to secure subsistence from some source during disability, he may be deprived of the only effective means by which he can wait out the necessary delays that result from litigation to enforce his cause of action. He may, for reasons of economic necessity or physical need, be forced to settle his claim for an inadequate amount.

...

At least under the circumstances here shown, the spirit and intent of the canon ethical consideration involved is similarly not a violation of professional conduct subject to disciplinary penalty. It is more akin to the permitted advance of expenses of litigation than to the prohibited advances to purchase an interest in a lawsuit or to induce a client to retain the lawyer.

Louisiana State Bar Association v. Edwins, supra, 329 So.2d at 445-47.

In the case for review, the uncontroverted and only evidence adduced before the Referee establishes that Ms. Barner had already retained TAYLOR and Mr. Gary's law firm prior to there being any discussion or actual advancement of monies to Ms. Barner (TR-34; l. 14 through TR-35; l. 2); that Ms. Barner was

faced with a life and death emergency requiring her brain damaged son to be hospitalized while being represented by TAYLOR and Mr. Gary's firm (TR-22; ll. 15-19); TR-24; ll. 10-23); that Ms. Barner was a single, black mother of a severely brain damaged infant living at the poverty level (TR-24; ll. 10-24; TR-40; l. 25 through TR-42; l.6); and that a \$200.00 check was written by Mr. Gary in response to Ms. Barner's son's medical emergency and not to create an interest in the case or to have Ms. Barner retain TAYLOR or Mr. Gary's firm. (TR-40; ll. 10-14). Contrary to the conjectural argument of the BAR, there is simply no evidence to support, suggest or infer that Mr. Gary's \$200.00 check or some used clothing provided by TAYLOR "favorably disposed Ms. Barner to keep Respondent as her attorney" or that TAYLOR "exerted at least some of the unilateral control against which Rule 4-1.8(e) was designed to prevent." The issuance of the \$200.00 check by Mr. Gary and TAYLOR'S giving of some used clothing to Ms. Barner for her son do not violate the intent and spirit of the ethical considerations behind the rule with which TAYLOR was charged.

The BAR relies upon The Florida Bar v. Wooten, 452 So.2d 547 (Fla. 1984) and The Florida Bar v. Rogowski, 399 So.2d 1390 (Fla. 1981), to support rejection of the Referee's findings of fact and recommendation. Both cases are distinguishable and, in fact, when applied to the facts in the case before this Court for review, mandate acceptance and affirmance by the Court of the Referee's report.

In Wooten, an attorney, over a two year period, advanced the client \$20,000.00 for medical bills, maintenance and support of the client and his family. The majority of the monies advanced were secured by promissory notes and were to be repaid from the proceeds of the client's personal injury action and workman's compensation claim. In rejecting the findings and recommendation of the Referee, this Court specifically found:

The referee's findings that the Respondent did not acquire an interest in his client's litigation is clearly erroneous. The mere fact that Respondent advanced more than \$20,000.00, which was not connected with the expenses of litigation and which was to be repaid from the proceeds of the litigation, is sufficient evidence of Respondent's acquisition of an interest in the client's litigation.

The Florida Bar v. Wooten, supra, 452 So.2d at 548.

In the case under review, there is simply no evidence that Mr. Gary's \$200.00 check or the item of used clothing were to be repaid by Ms. Barner from the proceeds of the litigation or otherwise or to support a conclusion that TAYLOR acquired an interest in Ms. Barner's litigation. As importantly, the reasoning in Wooten, with its special attention to the amount of the loans, the evidence of promissory notes and the repayment of the monies being secured by the proceeds of litigation evidences that there is no per se prohibition against providing financial assistance to a client.

In Rogowski, an attorney was disciplined, not merely for advancing funds to a client but also for (a) improperly advancing funds from his client's trust account to two clients in excess of

the amount on deposit at the time of the advance; (b) permitting the balance in his trust accounts to be less than the outstanding trust liabilities on six occasions from 1975 to 1979; and (c) handling a contingency fee case without preparing the required disbursement statement or other suitable record evidencing receipts and expenditures. In Rogowski, the Bar and this Court's focus was on the attorney's negligent handling of his trust account. No facts were reported as to the nature, amount or purpose of the monies advanced to the clients nor does it appear that the finding and discipline imposed upon the attorney were based upon the advances made. Unlike Rogowski, TAYLOR is not charged with mishandling his trust account monies or any other ethical violations. Rogowski, while instructive, is inapposite to the case at bar.

The BAR also cites to ethical Opinion No. 92-6 (March 1, 1993), to support rejection of the Referee's report. The Opinion, while not binding, is also distinguishable. TAYLOR did not form a corporation for the purpose of loaning monies to Ms. Barner or other clients as did his prior law firm, Searcy, Denney, Scarola, Barnhart & Shipley, and there is no evidence that TAYLOR routinely or otherwise referred a client to a loan company or that he actively participated in loan transactions. As the BAR admitted during closing argument, "[The ethical opinion is] not on point in this case because there is no evidence that there was a loan." (TR-56; 11.3-5)

Lastly, the BAR impermissibly attempts to argue that since a

Referee in a separate and unrelated case found minor misconduct against Mr. Gary, the Referee's report in this case should be rejected. Notwithstanding apparent due process concerns, the BAR's reference to Mr. Gary's case, as described in its brief, is clearly distinguishable from the facts present here. Apparently, Mr. Gary was charged with making loans to his clients in the past to help with living expenses during the pendency of lawsuits. There is absolutely no evidence in this case that TAYLOR ever made a loan to Ms. Barner or any other client. It is not known whether the charges against Mr. Gary were the same as against TAYLOR. The BAR did not argue or even allude to Mr. Gary's case during the hearing before the Referee in the TAYLOR case. It is not even clear from the BAR'S brief whether Mr. Gary consented to the finding of minor misconduct or whether it was entered after a full evidentiary hearing and based upon factual findings made by a Referee. Moreover, the Referee's recommendation is not yet final as the BAR admits. The case against Mr. Gary provides no support for the BAR'S position in this case. If TAYLOR is to be held answerable for some conduct of Mr. Gary in Case No. 82,525, constitutional due process requires that he be afforded an opportunity to examine the charges against him, respond to same, and confront and examine his accusers and witnesses. Mr. Gary's testimony before the Referee in this case demonstrates that the Referee's findings of fact and recommendation of not guilty must be approved and affirmed.

## II. DISCIPLINE-REMAND.

During the final hearing of this action, the Court ruled and directed that, in the event that it were necessary, it would conduct an additional hearing to handle the issues of mitigation and discipline. (TR-81; ll. 4-6). Thus, no evidence of mitigation or discipline was presented by the BAR or TAYLOR to the Referee.

In determining discipline, a judgment must be fair to society, must be fair to the attorney, and must be sufficient to deter attorneys from similar conduct. The Florida Bar v. Poplack, 599 So.2d 116 (Fla. 1992). Thus, the appropriate level of discipline must be weighed in light of aggravating or mitigating circumstances presented by the parties. The Florida Bar v. Farbstein, 570 So.2d 933, 936 (Fla. 1990). In the instant case, were the Referee's finding and recommendation of not guilty to be rejected, TAYLOR, as well as the BAR, should be afforded an opportunity to present evidence of mitigation and appropriate discipline, if any, to be imposed.

### CONCLUSION